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document, as well as the fact that no-
tice has been provided, shall be subject 
to any limitations on disclosure im-
posed by the State Official pursuant to 
paragraph (c)(1)(viii) of this section; 
provided, however, that the recipient 
may disclose such information: 

(i) As required by law; 
(ii) When the information is or be-

comes publicly available; 
(iii) With the consent of the State Of-

ficial; or 
(iv) To another State or Federal gov-

ernment entity when necessary to pro-
tect the public interest, after consulta-
tion with the State Official who pro-
vided the notice. 

(2) Provision of notice by a State Of-
ficial and disclosure of information 
pursuant to paragraph (e)(1) of this sec-
tion shall not be deemed a waiver of 
any applicable privilege. 

(f) No private right of action or defense. 
The requirements set forth in this sec-
tion are not intended to, do not, and 
may not be relied upon to create any 
right, benefit, or defense, substantive 
or procedural, enforceable at law by a 

party against the United States or any 
State enforcing the provisions of the 
Dodd-Frank Act or any regulation pre-
scribed thereunder. 

PART 1083—CIVIL PENALTY 
ADJUSTMENTS 

AUTHORITY: 12 U.S.C. 2609(d); 12 U.S.C. 
5113(d)(2); 12 U.S.C. 5565(c); 15 U.S.C. 1639e(k); 
15 U.S.C. 1717a(a); 28 U.S.C. 2461 note. 

§ 1083.1 Adjustments of civil penalty 
amounts. 

(a) The maximum amount of each 
civil penalty within the jurisdiction of 
the Consumer Financial Protection Bu-
reau to impose is adjusted in accord-
ance with the Federal Civil Penalties 
Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, as 
amended by the Debt Collection Im-
provement Act of 1996 and further 
amended by the Federal Civil Penalties 
Inflation Adjustment Act Improve-
ments Act of 2015, (28 U.S.C. 2461 note) 
as follows: 

U.S. Code citation Civil penalty description 
Adjusted 

maximum civil 
penalty amount 

12 U.S.C. 5565(c)(2)(A) .............................................. Tier 1 penalty ............................................................ $5,526 
12 U.S.C. 5565(c)(2)(B) .............................................. Tier 2 penalty ............................................................ 27,631 
12 U.S.C. 5565(c)(2)(C) .............................................. Tier 3 penalty ............................................................ 1,105,241 
15 U.S.C. 1717a(a)(2) ................................................. Per violation ............................................................... 1,925 
15 U.S.C. 1717a(a)(2) ................................................. Annual cap ................................................................ 1,924,589 
12 U.S.C. 2609(d)(1) ................................................... Per failure .................................................................. 90 
12 U.S.C. 2609(d)(1) ................................................... Annual cap ................................................................ 181,071 
12 U.S.C. 2609(d)(2)(A) .............................................. Per failure, where intentional .................................... 181 
12 U.S.C. 5113(d)(2) ................................................... Per violation ............................................................... 27,904 
15 U.S.C. 1639e(k)(1) ................................................. First violation ............................................................. 11,053 
15 U.S.C. 1639e(k)(2) ................................................. Subsequent violations ............................................... 22,105 

(b) The adjustments in paragraph (a) 
of this section shall apply to civil pen-
alties assessed after January 15, 2017, 
regardless of when the violation for 
which the penalty is assessed occurred. 

[82 FR 3602, Jan. 12, 2017] 

PART 1090—DEFINING LARGER 
PARTICIPANTS OF CERTAIN CON-
SUMER FINANCIAL PRODUCT 
AND SERVICE MARKETS 

Subpart A—General 

Sec. 
1090.100 Scope and purpose. 

1090.101 Definitions. 
1090.102 Status as larger participant subject 

to supervision. 
1090.103 Assessing status as a larger partici-

pant. 

Subpart B—Markets 

1090.104 Consumer Reporting Market. 
1090.105 Consumer debt collection market. 
1090.106 Student loan servicing market. 
1090.107 International Money Transfer Mar-

ket. 
1090.108 Automobile financing market. 

AUTHORITY: 12 U.S.C. 5514(a)(1)(B); 12 U.S.C. 
5514(a)(2); 12 U.S.C. 5514(b)(7)(A); and 12 
U.S.C. 5512(b)(1). 
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SOURCE: 77 FR 42898, July 20, 2012, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subpart A—General 
§ 1090.100 Scope and purpose. 

This part defines those nonbank cov-
ered persons that qualify as larger par-
ticipants of certain markets for con-
sumer financial products or services 
pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 5514(a)(1)(B) and 
(a)(2). A larger participant of a market 
covered by this part is subject to the 
supervisory authority of the Bureau 
under 12 U.S.C. 5514. This part also es-
tablishes rules to facilitate the Bu-
reau’s supervision of such larger par-
ticipants pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 
5514(b)(7). 

§ 1090.101 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this part, the fol-

lowing definitions apply: 
Affiliated company means any com-

pany (other than an insured depository 
institution or insured credit union) 
that controls, is controlled by, or is 
under common control with, a person. 

(1) For purposes of this definition 
‘‘company’’ means any corporation, 
limited liability company, business 
trust, general or limited partnership, 
proprietorship, cooperative, associa-
tion, or similar organization. 

(2) A person has control over another 
person if: 

(i) The person directly or indirectly 
or acting through one or more other 
persons owns, controls, or has power to 
vote 25 percent or more of any class of 
voting securities or similar ownership 
interest of the other person; 

(ii) The person controls in any man-
ner the election of a majority of the di-
rectors, trustees, members, or general 
partners of the other person; or 

(iii) The person directly or indirectly 
exercises a controlling influence over 
the management or policies of the 
other person. 

Assistant Director means the Bureau’s 
Assistant Director for Nonbank Super-
vision or her or his designee. The Di-
rector of the Bureau may perform the 
functions of the Assistant Director 
under this part. In the event there is no 
such Assistant Director, the Director 
of the Bureau may designate an alter-
native Bureau employee to fulfill the 

duties of the Assistant Director under 
this part. 

Bureau means the Bureau of Con-
sumer Financial Protection. 

Completed fiscal year means a tax year 
including any fiscal year, calendar 
year, or short tax year. ‘‘Fiscal year,’’ 
‘‘calendar year,’’ ‘‘tax year,’’ and 
‘‘short tax year’’ have the meanings at-
tributed to them by the IRS as set 
forth in IRS Publication 538, which 
provides that: 

(1) A ‘‘fiscal year’’ is 12 consecutive 
months ending on the last day of any 
month except December 31. 

(2) A ‘‘calendar year’’ is 12 consecu-
tive months ending on December 31. 

(3) A ‘‘tax year’’ is an annual ac-
counting period for keeping records 
and reporting income and expenses, or, 
if appropriate, a short tax year. An an-
nual accounting period does not in-
clude a short tax year. 

(4) A ‘‘short tax year’’ is a tax year of 
less than 12 months. 

Consumer means an individual or an 
agent, trustee, or representative acting 
on behalf of an individual. 

Consumer financial product or service 
means any financial product or service, 
as defined in 12 U.S.C. 5481(15), that is 
described in one or more categories 
under: 

(1) 12 U.S.C. 5481(15)(A) and is offered 
or provided for use by consumers pri-
marily for personal, family, or house-
hold purposes; or 

(2) Clause (i), (iii), (ix), or (x) of 12 
U.S.C. 5481(15)(A) and is delivered, of-
fered, or provided in connection with a 
consumer financial product or service 
referred to in paragraph (1) of this defi-
nition. 

Dodd-Frank Act means the Dodd- 
Frank Wall Street Reform and Con-
sumer Protection Act. 

Larger participant means a nonbank 
covered person that has met a test 
under subpart B of this part within the 
period provided in § 1090.102 of this part. 

Nonbank covered person means, except 
for persons described in 12 U.S.C. 
5515(a) and 5516(a): 

(1) Any person that engages in offer-
ing or providing a consumer financial 
product or service; and 

(2) Any affiliate of a person that en-
gages in offering or providing a con-
sumer financial product or service if 
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such affiliate acts as a service provider 
to such person. 

Person means an individual, partner-
ship, company, corporation, associa-
tion (incorporated or unincorporated), 
trust, estate, cooperative organization, 
or other entity. 

Supervision and supervisory activity 
mean the Bureau’s exercise, or in-
tended exercise, of supervisory author-
ity, including by initiating or under-
taking an examination, or requiring a 
report of a person, pursuant to 12 
U.S.C. 5514. 

[77 FR 42898, July 20, 2012, as amended at 80 
FR 37526, June 30, 2015] 

§ 1090.102 Status as larger participant 
subject to supervision. 

A person qualifying as a larger par-
ticipant under subpart B of this part 
shall not cease to be a larger partici-
pant under this part until two years 
from the first day of the tax year in 
which the person last met the applica-
ble test under subpart B. 

§ 1090.103 Assessing status as a larger 
participant. 

(a) If a person receives a written 
communication from the Bureau initi-
ating a supervisory activity pursuant 
to 12 U.S.C. 5514, such person may re-
spond by asserting that the person does 
not meet the definition of a larger par-
ticipant of a market covered by this 
part within 45 days of the date of the 
communication. Such response must be 
sent to the Assistant Director by elec-
tronic transmission at the address in-
cluded in the communication and must 
include an affidavit setting forth an ex-
planation of the basis for the person’s 
assertion that it does not meet the def-
inition of larger participant of a mar-
ket covered by this part and therefore 
is not subject to the Bureau’s super-
visory authority under 12 U.S.C. 5514. 
In addition, a person may include with 
the response copies of any records, doc-
uments, or other information on which 
the person relied in making the asser-
tion. 

(b) A person shall be deemed to have 
waived the opportunity, at any time 
that it may dispute that it qualifies as 
a larger participant, to rely on any ar-
gument, records, documents, or other 
information that it fails to submit to 

the Assistant Director under paragraph 
(a) of this section. A person who fails 
to respond to the Bureau’s written 
communication within 45 days will be 
deemed to have acknowledged that it is 
a larger participant. 

(c) The Assistant Director shall re-
view the affidavit, any attached 
records, documents, or other informa-
tion submitted pursuant to paragraph 
(a) of this section, and any other infor-
mation the Assistant Director deems 
relevant, and thereafter send by elec-
tronic transmission to the person a 
statement explaining whether the per-
son meets the definition for a larger 
participant of a market covered by this 
part. 

(d) At any time, including prior to 
issuing the written communication re-
ferred to in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, the Assistant Director may re-
quire that a person provide to the Bu-
reau such records, documents, and in-
formation as the Assistant Director 
may deem appropriate to assess wheth-
er a person qualifies as a larger partici-
pant. Persons must provide the req-
uisite records, documents, and other 
information to the Bureau within the 
time period specified in the request. 

(e) The Assistant Director, in her or 
his discretion, may modify any time-
frame prescribed by this section on her 
or his own initiative or for good cause 
shown. 

Subpart B—Markets 
§ 1090.104 Consumer Reporting Mar-

ket. 
(a) Market-Related definitions. 
Annual receipts means receipts cal-

culated as follows: 
(i) Receipts means ‘‘total income’’ (or 

in the case of a sole proprietorship, 
‘‘gross income’’) plus ‘‘cost of goods 
sold’’ as these terms are defined and re-
ported on Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS) tax return forms (such as Form 
1120 for corporations; Form 1120S and 
Schedule K for S corporations; Form 
1120, Form 1065 or Form 1040 for LLCs; 
Form 1065 and Schedule K for partner-
ships; Form 1040, Schedule C for sole 
proprietorships). Receipts do not in-
clude net capital gains or losses; taxes 
collected for and remitted to a taxing 
authority if included in gross or total 
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income, such as sales or other taxes 
collected from customers and exclud-
ing taxes levied on the entity or its 
employees; and amounts collected for 
another (but fees earned in connection 
with such collections are receipts). 
Items such as subcontractor costs, re-
imbursements for purchases a con-
tractor makes at a customer’s request, 
and employee-based costs such as pay-
roll taxes are included in receipts. 

(ii) Period of measurement. (A) Annual 
receipts of a person that has been in 
business for three or more completed 
fiscal years means the total receipts of 
the person over its three most recently 
completed fiscal years divided by 
three. 

(B) Annual receipts of a person that 
has been in business for less than three 
completed fiscal years means the total 
receipts of the person for the period the 
person has been in business divided by 
the number of weeks in business, mul-
tiplied by 52. 

(C) Where a person has been in busi-
ness for three or more completed fiscal 
years, but one of the years within its 
period of measurement is a short tax 
year, annual receipts means the total 
receipts for the short year and the two 
full fiscal or calendar years divided by 
the total number of weeks in the short 
year and the two full fiscal or calendar 
years, multiplied by 52. 

(iii) Annual receipts of affiliated com-
panies. (A) The annual receipts of a per-
son are calculated by adding the an-
nual receipts of the person with the an-
nual receipts of each of its affiliated 
companies. 

(B) If a person has acquired an affili-
ated company or been acquired by an 
affiliated company during the applica-
ble period of measurement, the annual 
receipts of the person and the affiliated 
company are aggregated for the entire 
period of measurement (not just the pe-
riod after the affiliation arose). 

(C) Receipts are calculated sepa-
rately for the person and each of its af-
filiated companies in accordance with 
paragraph (ii) of this definition even 
though this may result in using a dif-
ferent period of measurement to cal-
culate an affiliated company’s annual 
receipts. Thus, for example, if an affili-
ated company has been in business for 
a period of less than three years, the 

affiliated company’s receipts are to be 
annualized in accordance with para-
graph (ii)(B) of this definition even if 
the person has been in business for 
three or more completed fiscal years. 

(D) The annual receipts of a formerly 
affiliated company are not included in 
the annual receipts of a nonbank cov-
ered person for purposes of this section, 
if the affiliation ceased before the ap-
plicable period of measurement as set 
forth in paragraph (ii) of this defini-
tion. The annual receipts of a nonbank 
covered person and its formerly affili-
ated company are aggregated for the 
entire period of measurement if the af-
filiation ceased during the applicable 
period of measurement as set forth in 
paragraph (ii) of this definition. 

Consumer reporting means: 
(i) In general. Consumer reporting 

means collecting, analyzing, maintain-
ing, or providing consumer report in-
formation or other account informa-
tion used or expected to be used in any 
decision by another person regarding 
the offering or provision of any con-
sumer financial product or service. 

(ii) Exclusion for transaction and expe-
rience information. Consumer reporting 
does not include the activities of a per-
son to the extent that a person col-
lects, analyzes, maintains, or provides 
information that relates solely to the 
person’s transactions or experiences 
with consumers. 

(iii) Exclusion for furnishing affiliate 
information to a consumer reporting enti-
ty. Consumer reporting does not in-
clude the activities of a person to the 
extent that a person provides informa-
tion that solely relates to transactions 
or experiences between a consumer and 
an affiliate of such person to another 
person that is engaged in consumer re-
porting. 

(iv) Exclusion for certain authorizations 
or approvals. Consumer reporting does 
not include any authorization or ap-
proval of a specific extension of credit 
directly or indirectly by the issuer of a 
credit card or similar device. 

(v) Exclusion for providing information 
to be used solely in a decision regarding 
employment, government licensing, or res-
idential leasing or tenancy. Consumer re-
porting does not include the activities 
of a person to the extent that a person 
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provides consumer report or other ac-
count information that is used or ex-
pected to be used solely regarding a de-
cision for employment, government li-
censing, or a residential lease or ten-
ancy involving a consumer, or to be 
used solely in any decision regarding 
the offering or provision of a product 
or service that is not a consumer finan-
cial product or service. 

(b) Test to define larger participants. A 
nonbank covered person that offers or 
provides consumer reporting is a larger 
participant of the consumer reporting 
market if the person’s annual receipts 
resulting from consumer reporting are 
more than $7 million. 

[77 FR 42898, July 20, 2012, as amended at 80 
FR 37526, June 30, 2015] 

§ 1090.105 Consumer debt collection 
market. 

(a) Market-Related definitions. As used 
in this subpart: 

Annual receipts means, for the con-
sumer debt collection market, receipts 
calculated as follows: 

(i) Receipts means ‘‘total income’’ (or 
in the case of a sole proprietorship, 
‘‘gross income’’) plus ‘‘cost of goods 
sold’’ as these terms are defined and re-
ported on Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS) tax return forms (such as Form 
1120 for corporations; Form 1120S and 
Schedule K for S corporations; Form 
1120, Form 1065 or Form 1040 for LLCs; 
Form 1065 and Schedule K for partner-
ships; and Form 1040, Schedule C for 
sole proprietorships). Receipts do not 
include net capital gains or losses; 
taxes collected for and remitted to a 
taxing authority if included in gross or 
total income, such as sales or other 
taxes collected from customers but ex-
cluding taxes levied on the entity or its 
employees; or amounts collected for 
another (but fees earned in connection 
with such collections are receipts). 
Items such as subcontractor costs, re-
imbursements for purchases a con-
tractor makes at a customer’s request, 
and employee-based costs such as pay-
roll taxes are included in receipts. 

(ii) Period of measurement. (A) Annual 
receipts of a person that has been in 
business for three or more completed 
fiscal years means the total receipts of 
the person over its three most recently 

completed fiscal years divided by 
three. 

(B) Annual receipts of a person that 
has been in business for less than three 
completed fiscal years means the total 
receipts of the person for the period the 
person has been in business divided by 
the number of weeks in business, mul-
tiplied by 52. 

(C) Where a person has been in busi-
ness for three or more completed fiscal 
years, but one of the years within its 
period of measurement is a short tax 
year, annual receipts means the total 
receipts for the short year and the two 
full fiscal or calendar years divided by 
the total number of weeks in the short 
year and the two full fiscal or calendar 
years, multiplied by 52. 

(iii) Annual receipts of affiliated com-
panies. (A) The annual receipts of a per-
son are calculated by adding the an-
nual receipts of the person with the an-
nual receipts of each of its affiliated 
companies. 

(B) If a person has acquired an affili-
ated company or been acquired by an 
affiliated company during the applica-
ble period of measurement, the annual 
receipts of the person and the affiliated 
company are aggregated for the entire 
period of measurement (not just the pe-
riod after the affiliation arose). 

(C) Receipts are calculated sepa-
rately for the person and each of its af-
filiated companies in accordance with 
paragraph (ii) of this definition even 
though this may result in using a dif-
ferent period of measurement to cal-
culate an affiliated company’s annual 
receipts. Thus, for example, if an affili-
ated company has been in business for 
a period of less than three years, the 
affiliated company’s receipts are to be 
annualized in accordance with para-
graph (ii) of this definition even if the 
person has been in business for three or 
more completed fiscal years. 

(D) The annual receipts of a formerly 
affiliated company are not included in 
the annual receipts of a nonbank cov-
ered person for purposes of this section 
if the affiliation ceased before the ap-
plicable period of measurement as set 
forth in paragraph (ii) of this defini-
tion. The annual receipts of a nonbank 
covered person and its formerly affili-
ated company are aggregated for the 
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entire period of measurement if the af-
filiation ceased during the applicable 
period of measurement as set forth in 
paragraph (ii) of this definition. 

(E) Annual receipts do not include re-
ceipts that result from the collection 
of debt that was originally owed to a 
medical provider. 

Consumer debt collection is a debt col-
lector’s collection of debt incurred by a 
consumer primarily for personal, fam-
ily, or household purposes and related 
to a consumer financial product or 
service. 

Creditor means any person who offers 
or extends credit creating a debt or to 
whom a debt is owed, but such term 
does not include any person to the ex-
tent that the person receives an assign-
ment or transfer of a debt in default 
solely for the purpose of facilitating 
the collection of debt for another. 

Debt collector means any person who 
uses any instrumentality of interstate 
commerce or the mails in any business 
the principal purpose of which is the 
collection of any debts, or who regu-
larly collects or attempts to collect, 
directly or indirectly, debts owed or 
due or asserted to be owed or due to an-
other. Notwithstanding the exclusion 
provided by paragraph (iii) of this defi-
nition, the term includes any creditor 
who, in the process of collecting his 
own debts, uses any name other than 
his own which would indicate that a 
third person is collecting or attempt-
ing to collect such debts. The term 
does not include: 

(i) Any person while acting as a debt 
collector for another person, both of 
whom are related by common owner-
ship or affiliated by corporate control, 
if the person acting as a debt collector 
does so only for persons to whom it is 
so related or affiliated and if the prin-
cipal business of such person is not the 
collection of debts; 

(ii) Any nonprofit organization 
which, at the request of consumers, 
performs bona fide consumer credit 
counseling and assists consumers in 
the liquidation of their debts by receiv-
ing payments from such consumers and 
distributing such amounts to creditors; 

(iii) Any person collecting or at-
tempting to collect any debt owed or 
due or asserted to be owed or due an-
other to the extent such activity: 

(A) Concerns a debt which was origi-
nated by such person; or 

(B) Concerns a debt which was not in 
default at the time it was obtained by 
such person; and 

(iv) Any person engaged solely in en-
forcing a security interest. 

(b) Test to define larger participants. A 
nonbank covered person is a larger par-
ticipant of the consumer debt collec-
tion market if the nonbank covered 
person’s annual receipts resulting from 
consumer debt collection are more 
than $10 million. 

[77 FR 65798, Oct. 31, 2012, as amended at 77 
FR 72913, Dec. 7, 2012; 80 FR 37526, June 30, 
2015] 

§ 1090.106 Student loan servicing mar-
ket. 

(a) Market-related definitions. As used 
in this subpart: 

Account volume means the number of 
accounts with respect to which a 
nonbank covered person is considered 
to perform student loan servicing, cal-
culated as follows: 

(i) Number of accounts. A nonbank 
covered person has at least one account 
for each student or prior student with 
respect to whom the nonbank covered 
person performs student loan servicing. 
If a nonbank covered person is receiv-
ing separate fees for performing stu-
dent loan servicing with respect to a 
given student or prior student, the 
nonbank covered person has one ac-
count for each stream of fees to which 
the person is entitled. 

(ii) Time of measurement. The number 
of accounts is counted as of December 
31 of the prior calendar year. 

(iii) Affiliated companies. (A) The ac-
count volume of a nonbank covered 
person is the sum of the number of ac-
counts of that nonbank covered person 
and of any affiliated companies of that 
person. 

(B) If two persons become affiliated 
companies, each person’s number of ac-
counts as of the prior calendar year’s 
December 31 is included in the total ac-
count volume. 

(C) If two affiliated companies cease 
to be affiliated companies, the number 
of accounts of each continues to be in-
cluded in the other’s account volume 
until the succeeding December 31. 
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Post-secondary education expenses 
means any of the expenses that are in-
cluded as part of the cost of attendance 
of a student as defined in 20 U.S.C. 
1087ll. 

Post-secondary education loan means a 
loan that is made, insured or guaran-
teed under Title IV of the Higher Edu-
cation Act of 1965 (20 U.S.C. 1070 et seq.) 
or that is extended to a consumer with 
the expectation that the funds ex-
tended will be used in whole or in part 
to pay post-secondary education ex-
penses. A loan that is extended in order 
to refinance or consolidate a con-
sumer’s existing post-secondary edu-
cation loans is also a post-secondary 
education loan. However, no loan under 
an open-end credit plan (as defined in 
Regulation Z, 12 CFR 1026.2(a)(20)) or 
loan that is secured by real property is 
a post-secondary education loan, re-
gardless of the purpose for the loan. 

Student loan servicing means: 
(i)(A) Receiving any scheduled peri-

odic payments from a borrower or noti-
fication of such payments and 

(B) Applying payments to the bor-
rower’s account pursuant to the terms 
of the post-secondary education loan or 
of the contract governing the serv-
icing; 

(ii) During a period when no payment 
is required on a post-secondary edu-
cation loan, 

(A) Maintaining account records for 
the loan and 

(B) Communicating with the bor-
rower regarding the loan, on behalf of 
the loan’s holder; or 

(iii) Interactions with a borrower, in-
cluding activities to help prevent de-
fault on obligations arising from post- 
secondary education loans, conducted 
to facilitate the activities described in 
paragraph (i) or (ii) of this definition. 

(b) Test to define larger participants. A 
nonbank covered person that offers or 
provides student loan servicing is a 
larger participant of the student loan 
servicing market if the nonbank cov-
ered person’s account volume exceeds 
one million. 

[78 FR 73406, Dec. 6, 2013] 

§ 1090.107 International Money Trans-
fer Market. 

(a) Market-related definitions. As used 
in this subpart: 

Aggregate annual international money 
transfers means the sum of the annual 
international money transfers of a 
nonbank covered person and the annual 
international money transfers of each 
of the nonbank covered person’s affili-
ated companies. 

(i) Annual international money trans-
fers. Annual international money 
transfers of a nonbank covered person 
means the international money trans-
fers provided by the nonbank covered 
person during the preceding calendar 
year. 

(ii) Agents. (A) Annual international 
money transfers of a nonbank covered 
person include international money 
transfers in which another person acts 
as an agent on behalf of the nonbank 
covered person. 

(B) Annual international money 
transfers of a nonbank covered person 
do not include international money 
transfers in which another person pro-
vided the international money trans-
fers and the nonbank covered person 
performed activities as an agent on be-
half of that other person. 

(C) For purposes of this paragraph 
(ii), agent means an agent or author-
ized delegate, as defined under State or 
other applicable law, or affiliated com-
pany of a person that provides inter-
national money transfers when such 
agent, authorized delegate, or affili-
ated company acts for that person. 

(iii) Aggregating the annual inter-
national money transfers of affiliated 
companies. (A) The annual inter-
national money transfers of each affili-
ated company of a nonbank covered 
person are calculated separately in ac-
cordance with paragraphs (i) and (ii) of 
this definition, treating the affiliated 
company as if it were an independent 
nonbank covered person for purposes of 
the calculation. 

(B) The annual international money 
transfers of a nonbank covered person 
must be aggregated with the annual 
international money transfers of any 
person that was an affiliated company 
of the nonbank covered person at any 
time during the preceding calendar 
year. The annual international money 
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transfers of the nonbank covered per-
son and its affiliated companies are ag-
gregated for the entire preceding cal-
endar year, even if the affiliation did 
not exist for the entire calendar year. 

Designated recipient means any person 
specified by the sender as the author-
ized recipient of an international 
money transfer to be received at a lo-
cation in a foreign country. 

International money transfer means 
the electronic transfer of funds re-
quested by a sender to a designated re-
cipient that is sent by an international 
money transfer provider. The term ap-
plies regardless of whether the sender 
holds an account with the inter-
national money transfer provider, and 
regardless of whether the transaction 
is also an electronic fund transfer, as 
defined in § 1005.3(b) of this chapter. 
The term does not include any transfer 
that is excluded from the definition of 
‘‘electronic fund transfer’’ under 
§ 1005.3(c)(4) of this chapter. 

International money transfer provider 
means any nonbank covered person 
that provides international money 
transfers for a consumer, regardless of 
whether the consumer holds an ac-
count with such person. 

Sender means a consumer in a State 
who primarily for personal, family, or 
household purposes requests an inter-
national money transfer provider to 
send an international money transfer 
to a designated recipient. 

State means any State, territory, or 
possession of the United States; the 
District of Columbia; the Common-
wealth of Puerto Rico; or any political 
subdivision thereof. 

(b) Test to define larger participants. A 
nonbank covered person is a larger par-
ticipant of the international money 
transfer market if the nonbank covered 
person has at least one million aggre-
gate annual international money 
transfers. 

[79 FR 56650, Sept. 23, 2014] 

§ 1090.108 Automobile financing mar-
ket. 

(a) Market-related definitions. As used 
in this section: 

Aggregate annual originations means 
the sum of the number of annual origi-
nations of a nonbank covered person 
and the number of annual originations 

of each of the nonbank covered per-
son’s affiliated companies, calculated 
as follows: 

(i) Annual Originations. (A) Annual 
originations means the sum of the fol-
lowing transactions for the preceding 
calendar year: 

(1) Credit granted for the purpose of 
purchasing an automobile; 

(2) Automobile leases; 
(3) Refinancings of obligations de-

scribed in (i)(A)(1) of this definition 
that are secured by an automobile, and 
any subsequent refinancings thereof 
that are secured by an automobile; and 

(4) Purchases or acquisitions of obli-
gations described in (i)(A)(1), (2), or (3) 
of this definition. 

(B) The term annual originations 
does not include: 

(1) Investments in asset-backed secu-
rities; and 

(2) Purchases or acquisitions of obli-
gations by a special purpose entity es-
tablished for the purpose of facilitating 
asset-backed securities transactions if 
the purchases or acquisitions are made 
for the purpose of facilitating an asset- 
backed securities transaction. 

(ii) Aggregating the annual originations 
of affiliated companies. The annual 
originations of a nonbank covered per-
son must be aggregated with the an-
nual originations of any person (other 
than an entity described in paragraph 
(c) of this section) that was an affili-
ated company of the nonbank covered 
person at any time during the pre-
ceding calendar year. The annual origi-
nations of a nonbank covered person 
and its affiliated companies are aggre-
gated for the entire preceding calendar 
year, even if the affiliation did not 
exist for the entire calendar year. 

Automobile means any self-propelled 
vehicle primarily used for personal, 
family, or household purposes for on- 
road transportation. The term does not 
include motor homes, recreational ve-
hicles (RVs), golf carts, and motor 
scooters. 

Automobile financing means providing 
or engaging in the transactions identi-
fied under the term ‘‘Annual origina-
tions’’ as defined in this section. 

Automobile lease means a lease that is 
for the use of an automobile, as defined 
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in this section, and that meets the re-
quirements of 12 U.S.C. 5481(15)(A)(ii) 
or 12 CFR 1001.2(a). 

Refinancing has the same meaning as 
in 12 CFR 1026.20(a), except that the 
nonbank covered person need not be 
the original creditor or a holder or 
servicer of the original obligation. 

(b) Test to define larger participants. 
Except as provided in paragraph (c) of 
this section, a nonbank covered person 
that engages in automobile financing is 
a larger participant of the automobile 
financing market if the person has at 
least 10,000 aggregate annual origina-
tions. 

(c) Exclusion for dealers. The following 
entities do not qualify as larger par-
ticipants under this section: 

(1) Persons excluded from the Bu-
reau’s authority by 12 U.S.C. 5519; and 

(2) Persons who meet the definition 
in 12 U.S.C. 5519(f)(2); are identified in 
12 U.S.C. 5519(b)(2); and are predomi-
nantly engaged in the sale and serv-
icing of motor vehicles (as that term is 
defined in 12 U.S.C. 5519(f)(1)), the leas-
ing and servicing of motor vehicles, or 
both. 

[80 FR 37526, June 30, 2015] 

PART 1091—PROCEDURAL RULE TO 
ESTABLISH SUPERVISORY AU-
THORITY OVER CERTAIN 
NONBANK COVERED PERSONS 
BASED ON RISK DETERMINA-
TION 

Subpart A—General 

Sec. 
1091.100 Scope and purpose. 
1091.101 Definitions. 

Subpart B—Determination and Voluntary 
Consent Procedures 

1091.102 Issuance of Notice of Reasonable 
Cause. 

1091.103 Contents of Notice. 
1091.104 Service of Notice. 
1091.105 Response. 
1091.106 Supplemental oral response. 
1091.107 Manner of filing and serving papers. 
1091.108 Recommended determination. 
1091.109 Determination by the Director. 
1091.110 Voluntary consent to Bureau’s au-

thority. 
1091.111 Notice and response included in ad-

judication proceeding otherwise brought 
by the Bureau. 

1091.112 No limitation on relief sought in 
civil action or administrative adjudica-
tion. 

Subpart C—Post-Determination Procedures 

1091.113 Petition for termination of order. 

Subpart D—Time Limits and Deadlines 

1091.114 Construction of time limits. 
1091.115 Change of time limits and confiden-

tiality of proceedings. 

AUTHORITY: 12 U.S.C. 5512(b)(1), 
5514(a)(1)(C), 5514(b)(7). 

SOURCE: 78 FR 40375, July 3, 2013, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subpart A—General 

§ 1091.100 Scope and purpose. 

This part sets forth procedures to im-
plement section 1024(a)(1)(C) of the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act of 2010, Pub-
lic Law 111–203 (12 U.S.C. 5514(a)(1)(C)) 
(Dodd-Frank Act), and establishes 
rules to facilitate the Bureau’s super-
visory authority over certain nonbank 
covered persons pursuant to section 
1024(b)(7) of the Dodd-Frank Act (12 
U.S.C. 5514(b)(7)). 

§ 1091.101 Definitions. 

For the purposes of this part, the fol-
lowing definitions apply: 

Assistant Director means an Assistant 
Director for Supervision. If there is no 
Assistant Director, the Associate Di-
rector may designate an alternative 
Bureau employee to perform the func-
tions of an Assistant Director under 
this part. 

Associate Director means the Asso-
ciate Director of the Bureau’s Division 
of Supervision, Enforcement, and Fair 
Lending, or his or her designee. If there 
is no Associate Director, the Director 
may designate an alternative Bureau 
employee to perform the functions of 
the Associate Director under this part. 

Bureau means the Bureau of Con-
sumer Financial Protection. 

Consumer means an individual or an 
agent, trustee, or representative acting 
on behalf of an individual. 

Consumer financial product or service 
means any financial product or service, 
as defined in 12 U.S.C. 5481(15), that is 
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